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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION  

This case involves an appeal following the issuance of the Opinion and Order of the United 

States District Court for New Union. Petitioners New Union Oystercatchers, Inc., (“NUO”) and 

the City of Greenlawn, New Union, (“Greenlawn”) both filed a timely Notice of Appeal in 

accordance with the Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1). The district court had proper subject matter 

jurisdiction to hear the case under the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1540(c), 

1540(g) (1973). The United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has proper jurisdiction 

to hear appeals from any final decision of the United States District for the District of New Union. 

28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether Greenlawn’s riparian rights entitle it to continued water withdrawal from the 

Bypass Reach for ornamental irrigation during drought conditions.  

II. Whether the operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works during drought conditions to provide 

increased flow to Greenlawn is a discretionary action subject to the consultation 

requirement under § 7 of the ESA? 16 U.S.C. § 1536.  

III. Whether Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all of the drought-reduced flow from the 

Howard Runnent Dam Works constituted an illegal “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe 

mussel under § 9 of the ESA? 16 U.S.C. § 1538. 

IV. Whether the District Court must balance the equities before enjoining a beneficial 

municipal activity, when the activity will cause the extirpation of an entire population of 

an endangered species.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. FACTS 

The oval pigtoe mussel is a federally listed endangered species with habit downstream of 

the City of Greenlawn and the Howard Runnet Dam Works. R. at 9. The mussel’s habitat consists 

of gravel or silty sand riverbeds, with slow to moderate currents. Id. The mussels also require a 

healthy population of sailfin shiners, a fish that the larval mussels must attach to in order to mature. 

Id. The mussel is particularly susceptible to stagnant water from low flow conditions which causes 

increased siltation, prevents the migration of sailfin shiners, and smothers mussel populations and 

eliminates necessary habitat. Id. The mussel requires a minimum flow of 25cfs averaged over 24 

hours to prevent extirpation. R. at 10.  

 Greenlawn, New Union, owns riverfront on the Green River along the Bypass Reach 

upstream of the mussel’s habitat and downstream of the Howard Runnet Diversion Dam. R. at 5. 

Greenlawn was founded in 1893 and began municipal water intake from the Bypass Reach at that 

time. Id. In the 1960s, Greenlawn experienced a housing boom. Id. In 1968, Greenlawn enlarged 

its municipal water system to accommodate the growth. Id. Greenlawn’s water usage is for 

domestic purposes and is almost completely consumptive. R. at 6. Less than 5% of Greenlawn’s 

withdrawals return to the Green River because Greenlawn’s sewage treatment plant discharges 

into the Progress River, in a different watershed. Id. Additionally, the Greenlawn Water Agency 

(“GWA”) provides watering for domestic and industrial water supply to over 100,000 customers 

in the area. R. at 5. Watering for lawn and ornamental plants by these municipal users is mostly 

lost to evaporation and ground absorption. R. at 6.   

 NUO is a non-profit association representing the interests of oyster fishermen in Green 

Bay. R. at 10. NUO’s members are third- and fourth-generational oyster fishermen and their 
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livelihoods are dependent on healthy and consistent oyster harvests. Id. However, drought 

conditions and reduced flow have increased the salinity of Green Bay and reduced the flow of 

nutrients into the ecosystem which has increased salinity and allowed predators to enter the bay 

and feed on oysters. Id. Oyster harvests have dropped dramatically in Green Bay and NUO 

members have suffered reduced catches and declining incomes, which has forced some members 

to have to sell their boats because they were unable to make loan payments. Id. Additionally, some 

members are customers of New Union Regional Electric Cooperative (“NUREC”) and are forced 

to pay electric fuel surcharges when the Howard Runnet plant is not in operation. R. at 10. 

 In 1948, the Army Corps of Engineers (“ACOE”) constructed the Green River Diversion 

Dam and the Howard Runnet Dam (collectively known as the Howard Runnet Dam Works). R. at 

5-6. The dam was originally authorized for flood control, hydroelectric power, and recreational 

purposes, and subsequent legislation added fish and wildlife protection as an authorized purpose. 

Id.; see Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act of 1958, Pub. L. No. 85-624, 72 Stat. 563 (1958). Upon 

completion, the ACOE agreed to maintain flows “in such quantities and at such rates and times as 

[Greenlawn] is entitled to as a riparian property owner under the laws of the State of New Union.” 

R. at 6. In addition to the ACOE operations, NUREC provides electric power to the area. R. at 10.  

 ACOE’s operations are governed by a Water Control Manual (“WCM”), which was last 

revised in 1968. R. at 6. The WCM establishes guidelines for balancing flood control storage 

capacity, recreational water levels for activities like fishing, hydroelectric generation, and 

maintaining flow for Greenlawn. Id. The WCM provides procedures when lake levels drop below 

seasonal target levels. R. at 7. The WCM defines three Zone conditions and the ACOE’s 

procedures under each. See Appendix A. The WCM also provides that operations comply with the 
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riparian rights of property owners under New Union law. R. at 7-8. However, New Union has not 

adopted legislation or a permitting authority to resolve competing riparian claims. R. at 12. 

 Drought conditions have become more frequent in the 21st century due to climate change. 

R. at 8. Zone 1 drought conditions occurred in 2006-2009, 2010, 2012, and 2016. Id. In 2017, the 

region experienced below-average precipitation and above normal temperatures causing the lake 

to reach Zone 2 conditions. Id. The ACOE responded by instituting flow restrictions as provided 

by the WCM. Id. Greenlawn protested the 7 cfs flow restriction to the Bypass Reach, arguing that 

the provision was “outdated” and not an appropriate amount for watering lawns and ornamental 

plants. Id. The ACOE requested Greenlawn institute drought restrictions on its users, but 

Greenlawn refused, asserting a common law right as a riparian landowner to make reasonable use 

of the historic flows of the Green River. Id. Without consulting with the Fish and Wildlife Service 

(“FWS”), the ACOE increased the water releases for Greenlawn to 30 cfs, which was different 

than what was authorized under the WCM. R. at 9. The ACOE adjusted no other provisions Id.  

The increase flows to Greenlawn, coupled with continued drought conditions, caused the 

lake to drop to Zone 3 (Drought Emergency) conditions. Id. The ACOE continued to deliver 30 

cfs to Greenlawn during Zone 3 conditions. Id. Zone 3 conditions caused downstream flow rates 

to drop to nearly zero. Id. The river below Greenlawn became stagnant pools of water and narrow 

trickles. Id. Several beds of mussels were exposed causing a 25% population loss. R. at 9-10. At 

no point did the ACOE consult with the FWS concerning its impacts on the mussels, and 

Greenlawn has no incidental take permit under § 9 of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”).   

Eventually, heavy rains filled the lake back to Zone 1. R. at 11. However, all parties agree 

that based on recent trends and scientific assessments of precipitation patterns and temperature 

trends, drought warning conditions are likely to occur again in the near future. Id.  
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II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On May 17, 2017, NUO served a Notice of Intent (“NOI”) to sue the ACOE and Greenlawn 

under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), for violations of § 7 and § 9. R. at 10. After 60 days, NUO 

filed this action in the District of New Union, and included common law riparian rights claims 

against Greenlawn under the court’s supplemental jurisdiction. R. at 11.  

In response, ACOE filed a crossclaim against Greenlawn, joining NUO’s claim that 

Greenlawn’s water withdrawals constituted an illegal “take” of the endangered mussels under ESA 

§ 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B) and moved for summary judgment to dismiss NUO’s claim that 

ACOE violated the consultation provisions under ESA § 7, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a). R. at 4, 11. 

Greenlawn also filed a counterclaim against the ACOE seeking a declaration of its rights as a 

riparian landowner to continued flows to meet its water needs. Id. NUO moved for summary 

judgement declaring Greenlawn violated § 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B) of the ESA, and ACOE 

violated § 7, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a). R. at 4. 

On May 15, 2019 the District Court: (1) granted the ACOE’s motion for summary 

judgement and dismissed the ESA claims against it; (2) denied Greenlawn’s motion for summary 

judgement on the ESA § 9 issue and granted the ACOE’s crossclaim on the ESA § 7 issue; (3) 

granted Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment declaring its rights as a riparian landowner 

and dismissed NUO’s claims against it; and (4) granted NUO’s motion for summary judgement, 

declaring Greenlawn in violation of § 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B) of the ESA. R. at 5.   

NUO now appeals the district court’s upholding of Greenlawn’s riparian rights. Id. NUO 

also appeals the district court’s holding that the ACOE did not violate the consultation requirement 

under ESA § 7. R. at 1. Greenlawn appeals the district court’s holding that Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals constituted a “take” of the endangered mussel under ESA § 9. R. at 2. Greenlawn also 
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appeals the district court’s holding that when enjoining a municipal activity to prevent extirpation 

of an endangered species, a court does not have to balance the equities of the municipal activity 

against the threat to the species. R. at 2. Despite returns to Zone 1 levels, all parties agree that the 

issues in the case are not moot and that Drought Warning conditions will likely reoccur in the 

future. R. at 11.  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS 

Riparian rights comprise a body of “ancient” common law that conveys to a landowner the 

privilege to use and enjoy water. California Trout, Inc. v. State Water Resources Control Bd., 90 

Cal. App. 3d. 816, 819 (1979); Martin v. Waddell’s Lessee, 41 U.S. 367, 382 (1842). However, 

these rights are not “absolute” and are subject to limitations. Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. State of Illinois, 

146 U.S. 387, 456 (1892) (internal quotes omitted). In this case, Greenlawn violated these 

limitations when it: (1) breached the public trust, (2) claimed preference for domestic water use, 

and (3) unreasonably demanded continued water supply for ornamental irrigation during a drought. 

Further, Greenlawn is subject to state and federal jurisdictional authority over navigable waterways 

and submerged lands, which should be exercised to avoid further harm to NUO members and the 

oval pigtoe mussel.       

Under the ESA, federal agencies must ensure their actions do not jeopardize endangered 

or threatened species. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). Agencies must consult with the appropriate fish and 

wildlife service before taking any discretionary act which may affect protected species. 16 U.S.C. 

1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.03. The ACOE was required to consult with FWS for three reasons. 

First, ACOE’s decision to adjust the WCM provisions and increase Greenlawn’s water supply 

during drought conditions constituted an “agency action,” which ACOE should have reasonably 

expected to adversely affect the mussels. Second, ACOE’s adjustment of the WCM and delivery 
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of water constitutes a discretionary act because Greenlawn’s riparian water right is not absolute. 

Thus, the ACOE had some discretion to act in a manner beneficial to the mussels. Third, federal 

case law has established that ACOE cannot claim that its obligations under New Union’s water 

laws prevents it from carrying out its ESA obligations. 

For an illegal take to occur there must be actual injury to a protected species, and action 

that was the cause-in-fact and proximate cause of that injury. 16 U.S.C. § 1538 (1973); Babbitt v. 

Sweet Home Chapter of Communities for a Great Oregon, 515 U.S. 687, 708 (1995). Greenlawn’s 

withdrawal of nearly all the drought-reduced flow caused actual harm to the oval pigtoe mussel by 

impairing the protected species’ essential behaviors of breeding and sheltering. Furthermore, there 

is a high potential for the extirpation of the Green River population of oval pigtoe mussels if 

Greenlawn continues to withdraw this amount of water during drought periods. R. at 9. 

Greenlawn’s ornamental water use is the cause-in-fact of the illegal take of the oval pigtoe mussel 

because its withdrawal of nearly all of the drought-reduced flow caused habitat modification, 

which directly harmed a protected species. Additionally, Greenlawn’s withdrawal was the 

proximate cause of the injury because it was foreseeable that habitat modification would cause the 

illegal take.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Appellate courts review a grant of summary judgment de novo. Foster v. Mountain Coal 

Company, LLC, 830 F.3d 1178, 1186 (10th Cir. 2016). The facts are viewed in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. Summary judgment is appropriate when the non-moving 

party is unable to show a genuine issue of material fact. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).  
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 ARGUMENT 

I. COMMON LAW RIPARIAN RIGHTS DO NOT ENTITLE GREENLAWN TO 
CONTINUED WATER WITHDRAWAL FROM THE BYPASS REACH FOR 
ORNAMENTAL IRRIGATION DURING DROUGHT CONDITIONS.  
 

 The district court incorrectly held that Greenlawn’s riparian rights entitle the city to 

continued water withdrawal from the Bypass Reach for ornamental irrigation during a drought 

because riparian rights are not “absolute.” Illinois Cent. R. Co., 146 U.S. at 456 (1892) (internal 

quotes omitted). Rather riparian rights are subject to common law limitations and are subject to 

both state and federal jurisdictional authorities. Id. at 435. Thus, Greenlawn is not entitled to carte 

blanche water withdrawals from the Bypass Reach.   

A.  Riparian Rights Are Not Absolute Because They Are Subject to Limitations.  

Riparian rights are “usufructuary,” and convey the privilege to use and enjoy water 

contiguous with a landowner’s property. Hendrick v. Cook, 4 Ga. 241, 247 (1848). However, this 

privilege is limited and does not convey a corporal interest in fee simple to navigable waters or 

submerged lands over which water flows. Illinois Cent. R. Co., 146 U.S. at 444. Thus, NUO argues 

that Greenlawn’s water withdrawals during drought conditions is subject to these limitations.       

1.  Greenlawn’s ornamental irrigation is subject to the state public trust doctrine.1  

Greenlawn’s riparian rights are subject to an equally important historical common law 

principle—the public trust doctrine. Like riparian rights doctrine, the public trust doctrine has roots 

in English common law. Martin, 41 U.S. at 367-68. In England, title to navigable waters, and the 

soil under them, was held by the monarch “in trust for the whole nation.” Id. In contrast, after the 

 
1 It has been argued that the public trust doctrine extends to the federal government as well. See 
Michael C. Blumm & Lynn S. Schaffer, The Federal Public Trust Doctrine: Misinterpreting 
Justice Kennedy and Illinois Central Railroad, 45 Envtl. L. 399 (Spring 2015). Thus, as a federal 
agency, the ACOE would also have a fiduciary duty to uphold on behalf of all people in New 
Union, and nationwide, and should revoke Greenlawn’s delegated authority over the Bypass 
Reach to prevent further breach of the public trust.  
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American revolution, “the people of each state became themselves sovereign . . . [and] held the 

absolute right to all their navigable waters, and the soil under them; for their common use,” which 

was subject only to the “general government.” Id. at 367. Today, courts weigh this fiduciary duty 

when examining whether a state has acted in the best interest of the “whole people.” Illinois Cent. 

R. Co., 146 U.S. at 453. The public trust is distinguishable from the “general regulatory power of 

the state,” and may be characterized as a “proprietary (or quasi-proprietary) public right.” 1 Waters 

and Water Rights § 7.05 (2019).  

Although the state public trust doctrine has evolved overtime and varies state to state, it 

remains a universal principle applicable to all states. Id. at § 7.02 (2019). The basic framework for 

the public trust doctrine was explained in Illinois Cent. R. Co., which is considered “highly 

persuasive authority.” 146 U.S. 387 (1892); 2 Waters and Water Rights § 30.02 (2019). There the 

state challenged a prior conveyance of the Chicago city waterfront to a private corporation. Illinois 

Cent. R. Co., 146 U.S. at 433. The defendant railroad company claimed title over the waterfront 

and submerged lands. Id. at 438. The court held: that the state “trust can never be lost . . . [police 

powers] may for a limited period be delegated to a municipality or other body, but there always 

remains with the State the right to revoke those powers and exercise them in a more direct manner.” 

Id. at 435-54. Similarly, this has been applied in modern cases such as National Audubon Society 

v. Superior Court. 3 Cal. 3d 419 (1983). There the plaintiffs challenged the states diversion of 

water from Mono Lake under the public trust doctrine. Id. at 425. The court held that the state had 

an “affirmative duty to take the public trust into account in the planning and allocation of water 

resources” and was not “confined by past allocation decisions which may be incorrect in light of 

current knowledge or inconsistent with current needs.” Id at 446-47.   
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Like the state in Illinois Cent. R. Co., New Union has a fiduciary duty to uphold on behalf 

of all “people of the state”—including NUO members who have “standing” as a proprietary public 

right to the Green River. 146 U.S. at 455; R. at 13. As an initial matter, the decision in Illinois 

Cent. R. Co. was the law of the land when Greenlawn was founded and first began municipal water 

intakes from the Bypass Reach in 1893, making it subject to the public trust doctrine. R. at 5. 

Second, since Greenlawn is subject to the public trust doctrine it cannot “own the [Bypass River] 

riverfront . . . [and] underlying riverbed” because New Union holds the state’s navigable waters 

and submerged lands in trust for the people. R. at 5. Third, as Illinois Cent. R. Co. implies, police 

powers can only temporarily be delegated to a municipality—they cannot be abdicated. Meaning 

Greenlawn only has temporary control over the Bypass Reach and New Union can revoke those 

powers if the city breaches the public trust, which NUO argues it did.  

Here rather than “promoting the interests of the public” with regard to the state’s navigable 

waters and submerged lands, Greenlawn caused a “substantial impairment” when it made water 

withdrawals during drought conditions and caused flow rates to drop to nearly zero. Illinois Cent. 

R. Co., 146 U.S. at 435; R. at 9. Additionally, like the state in National Audubon Society, 

Greenlawn’s water withdrawals were incorrect based on the circumstances because it was based 

on an outdated fifty-year old WCM, and failed to account for exigent circumstances, i.e. the 

impacts of climate change, drought conditions, other users, and legislative Acts, like the ESA. R. 

at 6, 11. Greenlawn’s treatment of New Union’s navigable waterways and submerged lands is the 

antithesis of what the public trust doctrine stands for. Thus, unless Greenlawn implements 

reasonable drought restrictions going forward, New Union can and should revoke Greenlawn’s 

delegated authority over the Bypass Reach to prevent further breach of the public trust and public 

interest.   
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2.  Greenlawn does not get preference because their consumers use the water for 
ornamental irrigation. 

 
Except for domestic uses, all riparian owners have the right to use water lawfully so long 

as their use is not detrimental to the rights of other riparian owners. Taylor v. Tampa Coal Co., 46 

So. 2d 392, 394 (1950). “Domestic use” is an exception because it refers to “natural wants” for the 

home and farm, such as drinking, washing, cooking, or for livestock, such that it provides for the 

“immediate sustenance of a household.” Id.; 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019).  

This concept of domestic use was most notably explained in Evans v. Merriweather. 3 

Scam. 492 (1842). There a water use dispute arose when an upstream user was found to have 

violated his riparian rights when he dammed a branch on his property during a drought to work his 

mill that prevented water flow to a downstream user. Id. at 493. The court explained in its’ analysis 

that water use could be divided into “natural wants” or “artificial wants.” Id. at 495. “Natural,” the 

court said, “are such as are absolutely necessary to be supplied, in order to his existence. … [t]hese 

wants must be supplied, or both man and beast will perish.” Id. In contrast, the court noted, 

“[a]rtifical, such only as, by supplying them, his comfort and prosperity are increased. … [t]he 

supply of a man’s artificial wants is not essential to his existence; it is not indispensable; he could 

live if water was not employed in irrigating lands . . ..” Id.  

Evans is instructive for two reasons. First, the district court conflated Greenlawn with its’ 

individual users. Unlike the individual parties in Evans, GWA provides “domestic and industrial 

water supply to over 100,000” Greenlawn residents. R. at 5. This large-scale application is not 

what was originally contemplated by “domestic use.” The historical context of “domestic use” 

shows that the term applied to individual users who worked their own well. Evans, 3 Scam. 492 
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(1842). This distinction is noted by well-established treaties today.2 Thus, Greenlawn cannot argue 

behind the shield of domestic use because the term, and preference, would only apply to its’ 

individual users and not to it or GWA.  

Second, the district court confused the meaning of what qualifies as a domestic use. Evans 

made clear, domestic use refers to the natural want of water for human survival. Although the 

district court could be correct that “domestic use for gardening, is considered a ‘natural use,’” it 

would depend on if the gardening was for human survival. R. at 5. However, the district court was 

incorrect that a modern application of domestic use applies to “watering lawns and ornamental 

plants” because these uses have nothing to do with human survival and the meaning of the phrase 

has not changed over time. R. at 13; 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). Rather these uses 

are artificial wants and are given no preference because they are not essential to existence. Thus, 

the district court was incorrect when it asserted that the “ACOE’s power generation, . . . must yield 

to Greenlawn’s domestic water demands” because the use referred to is not a domestic as 

contemplated by the meaning of the term. R. at 13.             

3.  Greenlawn’s ornamental irrigation is an unreasonable consumptive use and 
has no economic or social benefit when weighed against the Restatement 
(Second) Tort balancing factors.3 

 

 
2 “Courts and legislatures seem to assume that domestic uses in the aggregate consume only 
insignificant quantities of water, especially because the preference does not extend to large 
institutions (like municipalities or public utilities). . ..” 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). 
3 The district court confused riparian rights with prior appropriation when it stated that “share the 
shortage” during times of reduced water flow “seem[s] to [be] preclude[d]” by principles of 
riparian rights. Prior appropriation is an alternate water use theory under common law. Harris v. 
Brooks, 225 Ark. 436, 441 (1955). Under prior appropriations, water is apportioned among 
contesting claimants. Id. Prior appropriation rejects equitable sharing of water, “such as reducing 
appropriations pro-rata during drought.” Barton Thompson Jr. et al., Legal Control of Water 
Resources 167, 171 (5th Ed. 2013). It also holds that when there is not enough water to meet the 
demands of all proprietors, water allocation is based on seniority, i.e. “first in time, first in right.” 
Id. The same principles do not apply to riparian rights under the reasonable use doctrine. Thus, 
the district court’s assertion was incorrect.         
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 The district court applied the reasonable use doctrine in this case. “Under reasonableness 

use theory, each owner of riparian land is allowed to use water in a waterbed regardless of the 

effect the use has on the natural flow so long as each user does not transgress the equal rights of 

other riparians to use the water.” 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). Thus, when a dispute 

arises, the court weighs the “perfect equality of right among all the proprietors” using common 

law principles. Tyler v. Wilkinson, 4 Mason 397, 24 F. Cas. 472, 474 (1827).  

a. Consumptive Use and Non-Consumptive Use 

Water use is categorized as “consumptive” or “non-consumptive.” 1 Waters and Water 

Rights § 7.03 (2019). “Consumptive” use causes significant diminution, i.e. consumes more than 

it returns to the water source. City of Canton v. Shock, 66 Ohio St. 19, 33 (1902); 1 Waters and 

Water Rights § 7.03 (2019). Whereas “non-consumptive” use returns used water to the water 

source, e.g. an “instream user,” such as a boat under propulsion. Id. These definitions stem from 

the general principle that all riparian users have an obligation to return used water back to its water 

source without “any essential diminution” so as to not impair the rights of other riparian owners.  

Id. (internal quotation omitted) 

City of Philadelphia v. Collins is an example of a dispute between consumptive and non-

consumptive users. 68 Pa. 106 (1871). There the superior court affirmed a jury verdict for the 

plaintiff vessel owner whose navigational voyage was “interrupted and impeded” because of low 

water levels in the city locks. Id. at 121-22. It was found that the city had not maintained adequate 

water levels during a severe drought when it “consumed” more water than it had agreed to, causing 

diminution of the water and the plaintiff’s injuries. Id. at 123.  

Here the dispute between users is similar to that in City of Philadelphia. 68 Pa. 106 (1871). 

As a consumptive user, Greenlawn’s water withdrawals cause significant diminution—starting 
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with their normal operations. During normal water withdrawals, less than 5% of Greenlawn’s 

water withdrawals return to the Green River. R. at 6. This is because Greenlawn’s sewage 

treatment plant discharges into the Progress River, which is in a different watershed. Id. 

Additionally, irrigation watering by its’ municipal users is largely lost to evaporation and ground 

absorption. Id. Thus, although the district court was correct that “American riparian law rejected 

an absolute . . . undiminished” flow, Greenlawn’s diminution is excessive and violates riparian 

owner obligations to return used water to the water source. R. at 12 (emphasis added).  

Greenlawn’s violation was compounded by the consumptive water withdrawals during 

drought conditions. Like the city in City of Philadelphia, Greenlawn exceeded the terms agreed to 

under the WCM. R. at 6-7. The WCM called for maintaining “targeted” water levels that included 

provisions for recreation and fishing. Id. However, Greenlawn’s continued use of water for 

ornamental irrigation during a drought resulted in continued evaporation and ground absorption 

with minimal return to the Green River as evidenced by the ACOE’s implementation of the 

Drought Emergency and the “stagnant pools of water and narrow trickles” left in the riverbed. Id. 

Thus, Greenlawn’s consumptive use violated the obligations of riparian ownership by causing 

unreasonable diminution.  

b.   Reasonableness and Beneficial Use    

A core principle of water law is it “should be utilitarian and allow the best use of the water.” 

Pyle v. Gilbert, 245 Ga. 403, 410 (1980). In determining if a parties’ actions align with this 

principle, courts weigh relevant factors to determine if the water use was reasonable and beneficial. 

1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). Many jurisdictions have adopted the Restatement 

(Second) Torts list in section 850A to weigh relevant factors, which are: (1) purpose; (2) suitability 

to the waterbody; (3) economic value; (4) harm caused; (5) potential for coordination with 
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competing uses; (6) temporal priority relative to competing uses; and (7) the “justice” of imposing 

a loss on the use. The analysis is fact driven and done on a case-by-case basis with an emphasis 

placed on economic use. 1 Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019).  

Harris v. Brooks is an example of a “modern” application of the reasonableness doctrine. 

225 Ark. at 441 (1955); Waters and Water Rights § 7.02 (2019). There the plaintiffs used the lake 

for commercial boating and fishing and the defendant rice farmer used it for irrigation. Harris, 225 

Ark. at 437. The plaintiffs claimed that during an “unusually dry” period of several years, the 

defendant started pumping water from the lake to irrigate, which caused the “normal” water level 

to recede. Id. at 439. This had an economic impact on the plaintiffs’ ability to run their business 

because the lake became “unsuitable ‘for fishing, recreation, or other lawful purposes.’” Id. at 438. 

The court held that the defendant was to be enjoined from pumping below a level that unreasonably 

interfered with the plaintiffs’ use of the lake. Id. at 447. The court reasoned that fixing the lake 

level was in the “best interest of all parties concerned” because it was “not only logical but 

practical.” Id. at 447-48. In coming to this conclusion, the court in Harris relied on Taylor v. Tampa 

Coal Co., 46 So. 2d 392 (1950). There the defendant was pumping water from a lake during 

“extremely dry weather” for the purpose of irrigating, which interfered with the plaintiffs’ ability 

to picnic, bath, boat and fish. Id. at 392-93. Between the defendant’s pumping and the dry 

evaporative weather, the lake levels shrank. Id. at 393. The court held that the plaintiffs had been 

“seriously impaired and damaged” because of the defendant’s pumping and enjoined the defendant 

from diverting water for irrigation during the dry season. Id.  

In this case, Greenlawn’s water withdrawals during drought warning conditions was 

unreasonable. First, like the defendants in Harris and Taylor, Greenlawn is irrigating during 
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drought conditions. Based on precedence, this type of use during these types of conditions tips in 

favor of unreasonableness.  

Second, like the defendants in Harris, Greenlawn’s use has a significant economic impact 

on other users who also have a “long established” use of the Green River, i.e. NUO’s members. R. 

at 13. In general, the fishing industry enjoys a strong preference under common law water rights.4 

As such, NUO members are third- and fourth-generational oyster fishermen who operate in Green 

Bay and whose livelihoods depend on flows from the Green River for their oyster harvests. R. at 

10. Historically, the industry there thrived, however, due to recent decades of reduced flows and 

climate change, their harvests have been severely impacted, e.g. 2016 harvest was 50% less than 

in 2000. Id. This has decreased their earnings and has even forced some members to abandon their 

livelihoods and sell their fishing boats because of outstanding loan payments. Id. Moreover, this 

financial hardship was further burdened when the ACOE curtailed hydroelectric power releases to 

continue Greenlawn’s water withdrawals for ornamental irrigation because NUO members who 

are customers of NUREC had to pay electric rate fuel surcharges to continue powering their homes. 

R. at 9-10. Meaning these members have felt the financial burden of Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals two times over. Thus, Greenlawn’s water withdrawal during drought conditions is 

unreasonable because of the economic burden.    

Third, like in Taylor, the harm caused could be mitigated by coordinating competing uses 

and fixing water levels to avoid negative impacts on temporal priorities. For example, Greenlawn 

argued it was entitled to “reasonable use of the historic flow,” but as the facts demonstrate, and 

the parties agree, climate change has had a negative causal effect on environmental conditions, 

thus altering what was once “historical.” R. at 7. These environmental changes, coupled with 

 
4 “The right to navigation is superior to every other riparian right except that of using water for 
domestic purposes.” City of Philadelphia, 68 Pa. 106, 120 (1871). 
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Greenlawn’s population growth and increased water withdrawal needs, should have been 

coordinated and balanced between Green River users in order to adjust the fixed lake levels and 

avoid harm during drought conditions. Moreover, contrary to the district court’s assertion, 

ecological effects should have been considered under the ESA because that is its purpose—a 

Congressional mandate to protect wildlife from the consequences of human economic growth and 

development. R. at 14; 16 U.S.C. § 1531(a). Instead, however, Greenlawn protested that the 7 cfs 

was outdated since the 1968 WCM was adopted and demanded water withdrawals based on its 

riparian rights without regard to the exigent circumstances or other users. R. at 7. The result was a 

harm to NUO and the oval pigtoe mussel, both of whom should have been considered as rightful 

users of the Green River. Thus, Greenlawn’s water withdrawal during drought conditions is 

unreasonable and new fixed lake levels should be coordinated between parties to prevent future 

harm.     

B. If Riparian Rights Were Absolute, then the State of New Union and the Army Corps 
of Engineers Would Be Subordinate to a Municipality.    
 
Even if the court finds Greenlawn’s riparian rights are not limited as argued above, these 

rights cannot be superior to state and federal jurisdictional authority. State jurisdiction over 

navigational waterways and submerged lands was granted under the equal footing doctrine. 

Pollard v. Hagan, 44 U.S. 212, 228-29 (1845). Federal jurisdiction over navigable waterways and 

submerged lands is defined under 33 C.F.R. Part 329. Here, regardless of whether New Union has 

adopted legislation or created a water permitting authority, it has jurisdiction and should exercise 

authority over Greenlawn to prevent further harm. R. at 12. Likewise, the ACOE has had federal 

jurisdiction over the Bypass Reach since the Howard Runnent Dam Works was built in 1947 and 

should exercise authority over Greenlawn to prevent further harm. R. at 5.  
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II. ACOE VIOLATED § 7 OF THE ESA BY FAILING TO CONSULT WITH THE 
FWS BEFORE IT INCREASED GREENLAWN’S MUNICIPAL WATER SUPPLY 
DURING DROUGHT CONDITIONS.  
 
The ESA states all Federal agencies “shall . . . insure that any action authorized, funded, or 

carried out by such agency . . . is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered 

species or threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). “Jeopardize” refers to “[engaging] in an 

action that reasonably would be expected . . . to reduce . . . the likelihood of both the survival and 

recovery” of a protected species. 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (2012). The ESA also requires a procedural 

“consultation” with the appropriate fish and wildlife service “whenever their actions may affect” 

a protected species. 16 U.S.C. 1536(a)(2). “If the agency determines that a particular action will 

have no effect . . . the consultation requirements are not triggered. Pacific Rivers Council v. 

Thomas, 30 F.3d 1050, 1054 n.8 (9th Cir. 1994) (citations omitted). If the action . . . is “likely to 

adversely affect” a protected species, it must engage in formal consultation. Id. Lastly, consultation 

requirements only apply to discretionary actions. 50 C.F.R. § 402.03.  

The ACOE failed to meet its consultation requirements under the ESA for three reasons. 

First, ACOE’s decision to adjust the WCM provisions and increase Greenlawn’s water supply 

during drought conditions constituted an “agency action” which ACOE should have reasonably 

expected to adversely affect the mussels. Second, ACOE’s decision was a discretionary act 

because Greenlawn’s riparian water right does not entitle them to a specific quantity. Third, federal 

case law has established that ACOE cannot claim that its obligations under New Union’s water 

law prevents it from carrying out its ESA obligations. 
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A. ACOE’s decision to adjust the WCM provisions and increase Greenlawn’s 
water supply during drought conditions constituted an “agency action” which 
ACOE should have reasonably expected to adversely affect the endangered 
oval pigtoe mussel. 

 
Under the ESA, an “action means all activities or programs of any kind authorized, funded, 

or carried out . . . by Federal agencies . . . .” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. This includes “the granting of . . 

. contracts,” or causing “modifications to the land, water, or air.” Id. at § 402.02(a)(b)(c). The 

Supreme Court has defined the term “agency action” broadly.  TVA v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978); 

See also Pacific Rivers, 30 F.3d at 1055.  

In Natural Resources Defense Council v. Houston, the Ninth Circuit stated that “clearly, 

negotiating and executing contracts is ‘agency action.’” 146 F.3d 1118, 1125 (1998). In Houston, 

the Bureau of Reclamation renewed dam water delivery contracts with irrigators. Id. at 1123-24. 

The court held the renewal of contracts to deliver water to irrigators was an agency action. Id. at 

1125. In referencing section 7(d) of the ESA, which prohibits the “irreversible and irretrievable 

commitment of resources” before consultation is complete, the court highlighted the clear 

substantive goals of the ESA which are bolstered by its procedural requirements. Id. at 1125; See 

also Thomas v. Peterson, 753 F.2d 754, 763 (9th Cir. 1985). The court concluded “the contracts 

amounted to an “irreversible and irretrievable commitment of resources” and all contracts executed 

prior to completion of the required consultations with the FWS and the NMFS violated § 7(d).” 

Houston, 146 F.3d at 1125; See also Silver v. Babbitt, 924 F.Supp. 976 (D. Ariz. 1995); Lane 

County Audubon Society v. Jamison, 958 F.2d. 290 (9th Cir. 1992). 

 In this case, the ACOE’s renegotiation and delivery of Greenlawn’s water supply is an 

agency action. Similar to actions in Houston, the ACOE negotiated and revised a contractual water 

delivery agreement. The ACOE communicated via letters with Greenlawn regarding the WCM, 

which Greenlawn considered an “outdated agreement.” Then, the ACOE made a discretionary 
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decision increasing Greenlawn’s water supply and deviating from the prior agreed upon provision 

of the WCM. Similar again to Houston, this delivery involved the “irreversible and irretrievable 

commitment of resources.” ACOE’s decision to alter the WCM and send increased flows to 

Greenlawn firmly falls within the definition of agency action as established by our case law.  

Further, the ACOE reasonably should have expected the delivery would adversely affect 

the mussels. An agency “shall review its actions at the earliest possible time to determine whether 

any action may affect listed species” and “[i]f such determination is made, formal consultation is 

required . . . .” Id. at § 402.14(a) (emphasis added). There are only two exceptions to this 

requirement. Formal consultation is not needed if, “as a result of the preparation of a biological 

assessment . . . or as a result of informal consultation with the [FWS] . . . the Federal agency 

determines, with the written concurrence of the [FWS], that the proposed action is not likely to 

adversely affect any listed species or critical habitat.” Id. at § 402.14(b)(1) (citations omitted) 

(emphasis added). Informal consultation “includes all discussions, correspondence, etc., between 

the [FWS] and the Federal agency” regarding whether a formal consultation is needed Id. at § 

402.13(a).  

 In this case, the ACOE violated § 7 of the ESA because the ACOE failed to consult with 

the FWS regarding the impacts of its operations on the mussels. The ACOE reasonably should 

have expected increased deliveries to Greenlawn during drought conditions from 7cfs to 30cfs 

would adversely affect the mussels for three reasons. First, the oval pigtoe mussel is a federally 

listed endangered species which the ACOE would have been aware if it consulted FWS. Second, 

Greenlawn’s water use, which the ACOE decided unilaterally to increase to 30 cfs during drought 

conditions, is almost entirely consumptive. The combination of evaporation, ground absorption, 

and Greenlawn’s sewage treatment plant discharging to a different watershed, causes less than 5% 
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of Greenlawn’s water withdrawals to return to the Green River. Third, due to the increased 

frequency of drought conditions, the ACOE was aware of the delicate nature of water supply along 

the Green River. Given these factors, ACOE should have expected its decision to increase 

Greenlawn’s water supply without balancing its peak hydroelectric power releases during a Zone 

2 (Drought Warning) would adversely affect the mussels and the entire Green River ecosystem.  

B. ACOE’s adjustment of the WCM and subsequent delivery of water constitutes 
a discretionary act. 

 
 ACOE’s argument that it had no discretion in delivering Greenlawn 30 cfs must fail for 

two reasons. First, the ACOE had some discretion when it unilaterally determined Greenlawn 

would receive 30 cfs during drought conditions (a quantity that was neither demanded specifically 

by Greenlawn’s riparian right or explained by the ACOE). The ACOE had some discretion to act 

in a manner beneficial to a protected species when it altered one provision of the WCM but then 

failed to alter other provisions in order to balance competing obligations. Second, federal agency 

obligations under the ESA can supersede contractual water delivery obligations under state law.  

1. ACOE had some discretion to act in a manner beneficial to the oval pigtoe 
mussel when it altered the WCM and increased Greenlawn’s water supply 
without considering its obligations under the ESA.  

 
Section 7 consultation requirements apply to all discretionary Federal actions. 50 C.F.R. § 

402.03. This would imply that a federal agency is not required to consult for an action which it is 

required to take by law. National Association of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 

644, 669 (2007). However, “[t]he purpose of consultation is to obtain the expert opinion of wildlife 

agencies . . . [and if needed] to identify reasonable and prudent alternatives” to the agency action. 

Karuk Tribe of California v. U.S. Forest Service, 681 F.3d 1006, 1020 (9th Cir. 2012). 

Consultation was “a conscious decision by Congress to give endangered species priority over the 

‘primary missions' of federal agencies.” Tenn. Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 185 (1978).  
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The discretionary requirement addresses the situation where an agency cannot comply with 

both the ESA and another conflicting action. National Wildlife Federation v. National Marine 

Fisheries Serv., 524 F.3d 917, 928 (9th Cir.2008). Thus, consultation is triggered “so long as the 

federal agency has ‘some discretion’ to take action for the benefit of a protected species.” Natural 

Resources Defense Council v. Jewell, 749 F.3d 776, 784 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting Karuk Tribe, 681 

F.3d at 1024). Consultation is required if the agency can comply with the ESA and its other legal 

obligation simultaneously. Nat'l Wildlife Fed'n, 524 F.3d at 928-29. Consultation is not needed 

only if an agency’s other legal obligation prevents its exercise of discretion for the benefit of the 

species. Id. at 927-28 (emphasis added); see also Jewell, 749 F.3d at 784.  

In Jewell, the Ninth Circuit held that the Bureau of Reclamation was required to consult 

with the FWS before renewing certain water delivery contracts. 749 F.3d at 785. The Bureau was 

responsible for managing California’s Central Valley Project—a series of dams and diversion 

mechanisms which delivers water to California water users. Id. at 780. The Bureau renewed 

contracts without first consulting the FWS and claimed the renewals were non-discretionary acts 

because the Bureau was “substantially constrained” on contract renewal terms. Id. at 784. 

Specifically, the delivery contracts constrained the Bureau from altering the amount of water 

which the users were entitled to have delivered to them. Id. at 785. The court held that although 

the Bureau’s discretion was constrained regarding some provisions of the contract renewals, they 

still had “‘some discretion’ to act in a manner that would benefit” the endangered species. Id. The 

court reasoned that because the Bureau could comply with the contract constraints and consider 

its ESA obligations in renewing other provisions of the contracts, it was required to consult before 

conducting the renewals. Id. See also Houston, 146 F.3d at 1126 (holding that despite water users 

having “a first right . . . to a stated share or quantity of the project's available water supply” the 
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Bureau still had discretion to alter other terms of contracts, or even to reduce the users share in 

order to comply with the ESA) (citation omitted). 

In this case, the ACOE arguably had little discretion regarding their obligation to deliver 

sufficient flows to satisfy Greenlawn’s domestic needs, but this does not mean the ACOE had no 

discretion to act in a manner that would benefit the oval pigtoe mussel. While the ACOE’s actions 

in this case may not constitute a formal contract renewal, their correspondence with Greenlawn 

were negotiations. ACOE’s decision to increase Greenlawn’s supply was in direct response to 

Greenlawn’s demand that the WCM was “outdated” and must be changed to meet their growing 

needs. Similar to both Houston and Jewell, the ACOE may have been constrained regarding one 

provision of the WCM (their obligation to supply Greenlawn with sufficient flows). However, the 

ACOE still had some discretion to determine how much flow would be sufficient for Greenlawn’s 

needs while also considering its obligations under the ESA. Additionally, the ACOE also had 

discretion to adjust other provisions of the WCM in order to offset the increased flows to 

Greenlawn. One obvious example would be to proportionately reduce the amount of peak 

hydroelectric releases during Zone 2 conditions to balance the increased flows to Greenlawn. This 

reasonable and prudent alternative is especially viable given Greenlawn’s access to secondary 

private sources of electricity with NUREC. Additionally, the ACOE could have forced Greenlawn 

to implement drought restrictions on its citizens which the ACOE had initially requested. The 

determination of which reasonable and prudent alternative could have been taken is precisely the 

purpose of the consultation requirement under § 7. Since the ACOE could have complied with 

both the ESA and its contractual obligations to Greenlawn, it had some discretion to act in a manner 

beneficial to the oval pigtoe mussel.  
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2. Federal agency obligations under the ESA can supersede contractual water 
delivery obligations under state law.  

 
 Even assuming Greenlawn’s riparian right entitled them specifically to 30 cfs during 

drought conditions, the ACOE would still have to weigh this with its ESA obligations. However, 

under no plausible scenario would the ACOE be able to ignore its ESA requirements because of 

contractual agreements. While the federal government concedes many water allocation powers to 

the states, it still retains broad superseding powers, especially in regards to navigable waters. See 

U.S. v. Rio Grande Dam & Irrigation Co., 174 U.S. 690 (1899); 33 C.F.R Part 329. Specifically, 

regarding contract obligations, a contract is not immune from subsequently enacted congressional 

statutes and this sovereign authority “‘will remain intact unless surrendered in unmistakable 

terms.’”  Bowen v. Public Agencies Opposed to Social Sec. Entrapment, 477 U.S. 41, 52 (1986) 

(quoting Merrion v. Jicarilla Apache Tribe, 455 U.S. 130, 148 (1982)). This is especially 

noteworthy given the Congress’s decision “to give endangered species priority over the ‘primary 

missions’ of federal agencies.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 185. 

 In Kandra v. U.S., the Ninth Circuit upheld this principle regarding contracts between the 

Bureau of Reclamation and California water users. 145 F.Supp.2d 1192 (D. Oregon 2001). 

Initially, the Bureau was enjoined from delivering water to irrigators which it was contractually 

obligated to do without first consulting with the National Marine Fisheries Service as required by 

§ 7. See Pacific Coast Federation of Fishermen’s Associations v. Bureau of Reclamation, 138 

F.Supp.2d 1228 (N.D. Cal. 2001). After going through § 7 consultation, the Bureau implemented 

a plan which called for the negation of many water users’ entire rights in light of ESA obligations. 

Kandra, 145 F.Supp.2d at 1199. The Court upheld the Bureau’s plan and stated that the “contract 

rights to irrigation water are subservient to ESA” requirements. Id. at 1201. Similarly, in Klamath 

Water Users Protective Association v. Patterson, where the court reiterated “[e]ven in 
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circumstances where the ESA was passed well after the agreement, the legislation still applies as 

long as the federal agency retains some measure of control over the activity.” 204 F.3d 1206, 1213 

(9th Cir. 1999). The court reasoned “because Reclamation retains authority to manage the Dam . . 

. [its] responsibilities include taking control of the Dam when necessary to meet the requirements 

of the ESA, requirements that override the water rights of the irrigators. Id.  

 While the water rights in this case are different, the overlying legal principle still applies. 

The ACOE’s obligations under the ESA supersede any contractual obligations it has to deliver 

water to Greenlawn. However, this line of reasoning is not implicated in order to suggest the ACOE 

should deprive Greenlawn of all its water (that would suggest a number of other legal questions). 

Rather, ACOE’s obligations under the ESA demand that it consult with the FWS in order to 

determine reasonable and prudent alternatives to delivering Greenlawn a sufficient water supply 

without jeopardizing the mussels. Thus, if ACOE’s contractual obligations are subservient to the 

ESA, the ACOE had ample discretion when it determined a delivery quantity which was never 

specifically required under the WCM. The ACOE’s obligations under the ESA and its powers to 

meet those obligations are broad and the ACOE had both the discretion and the control to act in a 

manner beneficial to the mussels.  

For the above reasons, the ACOE violated § 7 of the ESA when it failed to consult with 

the FWS before altering the WCM and delivering increased flows to Greenlawn during drought 

conditions.  

III. THE ILLEGAL “TAKE” OF OVAL PIGTOE MUSSELS UNDER § 9 OF THE 
ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT. 

 
The basic purpose of the ESA is to protect endangered and threatened species and prevent 

their further decline. Congress’s findings under the ESA show that:    
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(1) Various species of fish, wildlife, and plants in the United States have been rendered 
extinct as a consequence of economic growth and development untempered by 
adequate concern and conservation; . . .  

(2) These species of fish, wildlife, and plants are of esthetic, ecological, educational, 
historic, recreational, and scientific value to the Nation and its people.  

 
16 U.S.C. § 1531(a). The purposes of the ESA are twofold: (1) to provide a means to conserve the 

ecosystems upon which species depend; and (2) “to provide a program for the conservation of such 

. . . species.” Id. at § 1531(b). This indicates Congress’ intent to allow citizen suits as a mechanism 

to protect endangered species as an important environmental interest of the people.  

Section 9 of the ESA provides that “it is unlawful for any person, subject to the jurisdiction 

of the United States to take . . . any [protected] species within the United States.” 16 U.S.C. § 

1538(a)(1)(B) (emphasis added). “Take” is defined as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, 

wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.” Id. at § 1532(19) 

(emphasis added). Furthermore, “harm” includes “significant habitat modification or degradation 

where it actually kills or injures wildlife.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3 (1994). “Harm” is not limited to “direct 

physical injury to an individual member of the wildlife species,” and refers to “injury to a 

population.” 46 Fed. Reg. 54748-9 (1981). Under the ESA, take is to be “defined in the broadest 

possible manner to include every conceivable way in which a person can ‘take’ or attempt to ‘take’ 

any fish or wildlife.” S. Rep. No. 307, 93d Cong. (1st Sess. 1973), reprinted in 1973 U.S.C.C.A.N. 

2989, 2995. The oval pigtoe mussel is a federally listed endangered species for which § 9 protects. 

R. at 9. The term “person” includes municipalities under the ESA, which makes Greenlawn subject 

to liability. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13).  

A. Actual Injury Includes Impairing Essential Behaviors Through Habitat 
Modification When There is a High Degree of Certainty it Will Harm the Species.  

“So long as some injury to wildlife occurs, either in the past, present, or future,” this may 

satisfy the “harm” requirement under the ESA. Forest Conservation Council v. Rosboro Lumber 
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Co., 50 F.3d 781, 784 (9th Cir. 1995). “Injury” includes “significantly impairing essential 

behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3 (1994). Thus, 

modifying an endangered or threatened species’ habitat can constitute actual harm that results in 

“taking” of that species. See Sweet Home, 515 U.S. 687 (1995). The Supreme Court in Sweet Home 

extended the definition of harm to include the threat of future harm to habitat. Id. Based on the 

purpose and history of the ESA, “a showing of a future injury to an endangered or threatened 

species is actionable under the ESA.” Marbled Murrelet v. Babbitt, 83 F.3d 1060, 1064 (9th Cir. 

1996). However, the difficult questions of proximity and degree must be answered on a case-by-

case basis. Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 708. 

The terms “actual” and “potential” have been juxtaposed “to specify the degree of certainty 

that harm would befall a protected species, as opposed to the timing of the injury.” Rosboro 

Lumber Co., 50 F.3d at 785. Here, there is a high degree of certainty that Greenlawn’s actions 

caused actual harm to the breeding and sheltering of the mussel and would continue to cause 

irreparable harm if left unchecked. R. at 9. The mussel requires a healthy population of the sailfin 

shiner for breeding because the larval mussels must attach themselves to the gills of these fish in 

order to mature. R. at 9. Greenlawn’s water withdrawals created extremely low water levels that 

prevented migration of the sailfin shiners. R. at 9. Thus, the habitat modification created by a lack 

of water prevented the migration of sailfin shiners necessary for mussel reproduction and actually 

disrupted the breeding of the mussels.  

The habitat modification caused by Greenlawn’s water withdrawal actually disrupted the 

sheltering of the mussels because the species’ habitat was drained and exposed during a drought 

due to Greenlawn’s unmitigated water use under those conditions. Even though “adult oval pigtoe 

mussels can adapt to minor changes in water levels by moving themselves to habitat that remains 
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submerged,” the reduced flows essentially eliminated any possibility for the species to remain 

submerged or to adapt. R. at 9. The severe modification to the mussels’ habitat caused a 25% die 

off of the Green River population. R. at 9.  

Thus, the lack of adequate flow actually harmed the Green River population of oval pigtoe 

mussels by adversely affecting necessary breeding and sheltering. R. at 9. Although actual harm 

occurred, what is more concerning is the potential extirpation of the Green River population of the 

mussels. If Greenlawn continues its excessive withdrawals during drought it would keep the sailfin 

shiners out of the region, prevent larval mussels’ repopulation, and further eliminate the sheltering 

of adult mussels, decimating the population that already exists. R. at 9. 

B. Greenlawn’s Ornamental Water Use is the Cause-In-Fact of the Illegal Take of the 
Oval Pigtoe Mussel.  

The ESA prohibits habitat modification that is no more than the cause-in-fact of death or 

injury to wildlife. Any “significant habitat modification” that in fact produces that result by 

“impairing essential behavioral patterns” is unlawful, regardless of whether that result is intended, 

and no matter how long the chain of causality between modification and injury. Sweet Home, 515 

U.S. at 716. In Marbled Murrelet the Supreme Court laid out a three-pronged test for causality. 83 

F.3d 1060 (9th Cir. 1996). First, direct violence is not required to show harm, “an indirect cause . 

. . also comes within the meaning.” Id. at 1065 (citing Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 697-98). Second, 

the court extended protection to habitat modification, pointing at the overarching purpose of the 

ESA. Id. (citing Id. at 698-700). The final prong, articulates that “the permit system set up by the 

1982 amendment to the ESA strongly suggests Congress understood the ESA to prohibit indirect 

as well as deliberate takings.” Id. (citing Id. at 700-01). 

Indirect causes of harm fall within the meaning of the ESA. In the present case, oval pigtoe 

mussels require “a minimum flow of 25cfs averaged over 24 hours” to prevent extirpation of the 
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Green River oval pigtoe mussel population. R. at 10. Even under duress, adult mussels can adapt 

to certain changes in conditions, however the drastic conditions brought about by Greenlawn’s 

withdrawals caused significant harm to the species because Greenlawn’s flows were nearly 100% 

consumptive. R. at 9. These conditions resulted in a 25% loss of mussels and if allowed to persist 

would “entirely eliminate the Green River population.” R. at 9. The lack of flow brought about by 

Greenlawn’s withdrawal is the cause, whether directly or indirectly, of this adverse effect to the 

endangered mussel.   

Direct or indirect harm includes habitat modification for the purpose of an illegal take. 

Oval pigtoe mussels require riverbeds with “slow to moderate currents.” R. at 9. Greenlawn’s 

continued 30cfs water withdrawals during a drought period instead of 7cfs—ACOE’s initial 

determination for drought periods—exposed several beds of mussels downstream. R. at 8-9. The 

lack of flow brought about by Greenlawn’s withdrawal created extreme habitat modification that 

significantly affected the population. R. at 9. But-for Greenlawn not conserving water withdrawals 

during drought times, severe downstream effects occurred to the necessary habitat of the mussels. 

Thus, Greenlawn caused actual harm to a federally listed endangered species through habitat 

modification. 

The third prong looks to the ESA incidental permit system, suggesting Congress 

understood “the ESA to prohibit indirect as well as deliberate takings.” Marbled Murrelet, 83 F.3d 

at 1065 (citing Sweet Home, 515 U.S. at 700-01). The side-effects of the modern world are often 

the taking of threatened and endangered species through indirect actions. See 16 U.S.C. § 

1531(a)(1); 16 U.S.C. § 1539. This is something Congress accounted for when it added the 

statutory scheme for indirect take permits. 16 U.S.C. § 1539. Meaning, the 25% of mussel 

population affected by Greenlawn’s water use may have been permissible if Greenlawn had 
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acquired an incidental take permit. See R. at 9; 16 U.S.C. § 1539. However, Greenlawn had no 

such permit and because its water use caused habitat modification that resulted in 25% population 

decline, Greenlawn’s action falls squarely under the third prong of the causation test. R. at 9. 

When interpreting “cause” or terms like cause, which are “well-known to the common 

law,” the court should use the common law interpretation. Strahan v. Coxe, 127 F.3d 155, 163 (1st 

Cir. 1997). In Strahan, environmentalist brought suit against Massachusetts officials for violating 

the ESA by issuing licenses and permits authorizing gillnet and lobster pot fishing, which caused 

incidental takes of the federally protected Northern Right Whale. Id. at 158. The court found that 

the indirect taking by the Commonwealth through its licensing scheme fell inside the normal 

boundaries of causation because the state licensed commercial fishing operations in “specifically 

the manner that is likely to result in a violation of federal law.” Id. at 163. Thus, the causation, 

although realized by a third-party was not so removed to extend “outside the realm of causation as 

it is understood in the common law.” Id.  

Unlike Strahan, where the court contemplated a third-party licensing scheme, which 

resulted in incidental takes, this case concerns the actions of a licensed party that harmed a species 

through habitat modification. In Strahan, indirect action of a third party was enough to find 

causation, where incidental takes occurred without the adequate permit. Id. Here the direct action 

of Greenlawn falls well within the bounds of causation. But-for Greenlawn’s water use, adequate 

flow would have existed to prevent any taking of oval pigtoe mussels. If Greenlawn felt its water 

use was vital, it could have acquired an incidental take permit but it did not. R. at 9-10. Because 

the Commonwealth’s licensing scheme in Strahan constituted an illegal take by causing other 

parties to take the Right Whale, it stands to reason that Greenlawn’s direct habitat modification 

constituted an illegal take. ACOE’s authorization of permissible water use is more similar to the 
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Commonwealth’s licensing scheme in Strahan because it also dealt specifically with the type of 

action the ESA sought to protect. The ACOE should be liable alongside the city because it provided 

Greenlawn with water withdrawals in a manner likely to result in a violation of the federal law.  

C. It Was Foreseeable That Greenlawn’s Ornamental Water Use Would Cause the 
Illegal Take Because Evidence Exists That Reduced Flows Have Had a Significant 
Impact on Green Bay. 

Proximate cause is also well-established under common law, and thus should use the 

meaning and interpretation therein. See Strahan, 127 F.3d at 163. The Supreme Court affirmed 

that “proximate causation principles are generally thought to be a necessary limitation on liability.” 

Exxon Co., U.S.A. v. Sofec, Inc., 517 U.S. 830, 838 (1996). In a sense, “the consequences of an act 

go forward to eternity, and the causes of an event go backward” forever. Id. (quoting W. Keeton, 

et al., Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts 264 (5th ed.1984)). However, somewhere a point 

will be reached the link has become too tenuous and consequences are merely fortuity. Id. 

Therefore, applying a proximate cause limit to the ESA means liability must comport with the 

common-law idea of foreseeability. Id. Thus, proximate cause turns on the question of 

foreseeability. However, the court should not extend foreseeability to the point that it overly 

attenuates the causal chain. See Brian Reagan, Aransas Project v. Shaw: The Fifth Circuit’ s 

Incorrect and Attenuated Proximate Cause Analysis on What Killed the Whooping Crane, 40 Wm. 

& Mary Envtl. L. & Pol'y Rev. 943, 961 (2016).  

The ESA prohibits “takes” so long as they are “foreseeable rather than merely accidental.” 

Aransas Project v. Shaw, 775 F.3d 775 F.3d 641, 657 (5th Cir. 2014) (citing Sweet Home, 515 

U.S. 687 (1995)). Aransas deals with a take of the endangered whooping crane. Id. at 645. The 

state defendants’ regulatory practices allegedly allowed water withdrawals that led to reduction in 

freshwater inflow into the crane’s bay ecosystem. Id. at 646. The reduction, along with a drought, 

“led to increased salinity in the bay, which decreased the availability of drinkable water and caused 
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a reduction” to the cranes’ staple foods. Id. at 647. The petitioner alleged this “caused the cranes 

to become emaciated and to engage in stress behavior, leading to further emaciation,” ultimately, 

leading to twenty-three crane deaths in the winter of 2008–2009. Id. Thus, the petitioner alleged 

that the regulatory practices caused an illegal taking of whooping cranes and would continue 

absent intervention. Id.  

The Fifth Circuit held that proximate cause requires the causal factors and results to be 

reasonably foreseeable. Id. at 663. Because the deaths of the whooping cranes were too remote 

from the permitted water withdrawals the state was not liable for the illegal take. Id. It reasoned 

that because the FWS report observed that water use steadily increased along with population 

increase, and the state had suffered periodic, severe droughts, yet the whooping crane population 

was simultaneously steadily increasing—therefore, in the context of population recovery—the 

unusual die-off of cranes was merely a fortuity. Id.  

 Unlike Aransas, where the water regulations were too attenuated to constitute proximate 

cause, the close cause-in-fact of Greenlawn actions and the die-off of oval pigtoe mussels is a 

reasonably foreseeable effect of Greenlawn consuming “the last drops of flow in the Green River.” 

R. at 17. It is known that adult oval pigtoe mussels can adapt to minor changes, but not such drastic 

changes. R. at 9. The direct condition change caused by Greenlawn resulted in the death of 

approximately 25% of the oval pigtoe mussel population and if allowed to persist, would entirely 

eliminate the Green River population. R. at 9. Although every other entity in the area reduced their 

water use to account for drought periods—expressed in the drought provision of the WCM—

Greenlawn refused to implement a conservation plan, and instead asserted its riparian rights. R. at 

8. ACOE eventually agreed to allow Greenlawn 30cfs during drought conditions, which resulted 

in extreme habitat modification to which the adult mussels could not adapt. R. at 8-9. 
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Based on effects in recent decades, the consequences to the oval pigtoe mussel from 

reduced flows in the Green River were foreseeable. Greenlawn experienced a housing boom in the 

1960s, which “enlarged its municipal water system” to accommodate the greater demand. R. at 5. 

An enlarged water system means extraction of more water, and thus reduced flows. Reduced flows 

resulted in increased siltation, salinity and less nutrients entering the Green Bay ecosystem, which 

is known to smother mussel populations and eliminate necessary habitat. R. at 10. Historically, 

there was a thriving oyster industry in Green Bay, but reduced floodplain inundation eliminated 

nutrient inflows into the estuary causing oyster harvests to decrease 50% from 2000 to 2016. R. at 

10. The decline in the oyster industry due to an enlarged municipal water system shows there was 

a known trend towards species decline in the region, making an illegal take foreseeable to those 

engaged in water withdrawals.  

The effects of decreased flow paired with the drought provision of the WCM demonstrates 

that the habitat modification, which resulted from Greenlawn’s withdrawals in 2017 was 

sufficiently foreseeable as a cause of harm to the oval pigtoe mussel. Furthermore, the purpose of 

the ESA is to address the consequences of economic development to threatened and endangered 

species and provide adequate redress for a lack of conservation concerns. Based on modern 

changes impacting the environment, Greenlawn must increase conservation measures in order to 

preserve endangered species. Greenlawn’s absence of such measures during the drought period of 

2017 caused an illegal take of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel violating § 9 of the ESA.  

IV. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF DOES NOT REQUIRE ENGAGING IN A BALANCE OF 
EQUITIES BECAUSE THE LAW AFFORDS ENDANGERED SPECIES THE 
HIGHEST PROTECTION.  
 
Congress has “[afforded] endangered species the highest of priorities.” TVA, 98 S. Ct. at 

2301. If an environmental injury is sufficiently likely, the balance of harms usually favors an 
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injunction. Aransas, 775 F.3d at 663 (citing Amoco Production Co. v. Gamble, 480 U.S. 531, 545 

(1987)). Under the ESA “an imminent threat of future harm is sufficient for the issuance of an 

injunction.” See e.g. Rosboro, 50 F.3d at 783 (citation omitted). The ESA specifically provides for 

injunctive relief for violations of ESA § 7. See 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1). Therefore, the traditional 

balancing of party interests has been substituted with a standard favoring endangered species. 

Even if the court engages in a balance of equities, it would favor administering injunctive 

relief because jeopardy of an entire species outweighs the unreasonable property rights assertions 

of a municipality. Proposed action “jeopardizes” the species at issue if it can “reasonably ... be 

expected… to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both the survival and recovery of a listed 

species in the wild.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (2012). Therefore, where a jeopardy determination has 

not been made in a Biological Opinion (BioOp), extirpation of a species should be equal to 

jeopardy. Because ACOE violated its duty under ESA § 7 to consult, no BioOp was done, and it 

is reasonably expected that Greenlawn’s water withdrawal during drought conditions would result 

in the extirpation of the mussels, the balance would tip towards administering injunctive relief in 

order to fulfil the “no jeopardy” mandate of the ESA.  

CONCLUSION 

This court should reverse the district court’s determination that Greenlawn’s riparian rights 

entitle it to water withdrawals for ornamental irrigation during drought conditions. Greenlawn 

breached the limitations of its’ common law riparian rights and New Union should revoke its 

delegated authority over the Green River to prevent future harm. Additionally, Greenlawn is 

subject to state and federal jurisdiction over navigable waterways and submerged lands and these 

governmental entities should exercise their authorities over Greenlawn to prevent future harm.  
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This court should reverse the district court’s determination that the ACOE did not violate 

§ 7 of the ESA. ACOE’s decision to adjust the WCM provisions and increase Greenlawn’s water 

supply during drought conditions constituted an “discretionary agency action” which ACOE 

should have reasonably expected to adversely affect the endangered mussel. Since Greenlawn’s 

riparian water right is not absolute and does not entitle them to a specific quantity, the ACOE had 

some discretion to act in a manner beneficial to the mussel. Additionally, ACOE cannot claim that 

its obligations under New Union’s water rights prevents it from carrying out its ESA obligations.  

This court should uphold the determination of Greenlawn’s illegal take because Greenlawn 

caused actual harm to a federally listed species, resulting in 25% die-off of the population. 

Furthermore, Greenlawn’s actions were the proximate cause of the take because it was foreseeable 

that its water withdrawals would result in harm. The ESA provides broadly for protecting 

threatened and endangered species in the people’s interest, and thus it is the courts responsibility 

to uphold Congress’s intention.  

In conclusion, these issues before the court are more than a property rights issue and are 

more than an administrative issue. The issue before the court cuts at the very core and ethos upon 

which this great nation was founded—trust. The people must have trust in their government. The 

people must know and believe that their government and the judiciary will act in their best interest. 

No fundamental principle in law can be more meaningful and more true than this bond of public 

trust, whether it be through the extension of the common law, through agency action taken on 

behalf of the public welfare, or legislation enacted to preserve and protect the environment for 

future generations. Thus, in this vein the court should grant NUO’s motion on appeal on all issues 

in order to uphold the public trust and public interest and safeguard the environment as the law 

provides to do so.  
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APPENDIX - A 

1) Zone 1 (Drought Watch) - All recreational releases 
curtailed; minimum flow of at least 50 cfs shall be 
maintained in the Green River at the confluence of 
the Howard Runnet Dam tailrace and the Bypass 
Reach for fish and wildlife purposes; flow of 50 cfs 
shall be maintained into the Bypass Reach from the 
Diversion Dam; daily hydroelectric power releases 
of up to 200 cfs for up to three hours per day shall be 
maintained. 

2) Zone 2 (Drought Warning) - All recreational releases 
curtailed; Bypass Reach flow from the Diversion 
Dam reduced to 7 cfs; daily hydroelectric power 
releases of up to 200 cfs for up to three hours per day 
shall be maintained. 

3) Zone 3 (Drought Emergency) - All recreational 
releases curtailed; flow of 7 cfs shall be maintained 
into the Bypass Reach from the Diversion Dam; daily 
hydroelectric power releases curtailed.  

 


